
1525 initial review

6 pesan




editor@potravinarstvo.com <editor@potravinarstvo.com>
Kepada: widyastutinurmasari@gmail.com

18 Desember 2020 21.36

Dear authors, your article does not pass the initial review process. You should correct your article. Use the journal article template (2021 version), format the references section according to journal references formatting style.

Best regards
Ing. Peter Zajac, PhD.

3 lampiran




-  **1525.docx**
112K
-  **1525rew.docx**
108K
-  **article template.docx**
87K

Nurmasari Widyastuti <widyastutinurmasari@gmail.com>
Kepada: Vita Almira <vitagalmira@gmail.com>

18 Desember 2020 22.06

[Kutipan teks disembunyikan]

3 lampiran

-  **1525.docx**
112K
-  **1525rew.docx**
108K
-  **article template.docx**
87K

Nurmasari Widyastuti <widyastutinurmasari@gmail.com>
Kepada: editor@potravinarstvo.com

22 Desember 2020 15.12

Dear, Ing. Peter Zajac, PhD.


Thank you for the corrections. Herewith, I am enclosing the revised manuscript.

Thank you for your attention.

Best regards,

Nurmasari Widyastuti

[Kutipan teks disembunyikan]

-
-  **1525.docx**
904K

editor@potravinarstvo.com <editor@potravinarstvo.com>

22 Desember 2020 20.38

Kepada: Nurmasari Widyastuti <widyastutinurmasari@gmail.com>

Dear Nurmasari Widyastuti

I have checked your article, the changes you made are OK. Please correct your references according to the attached example. And send your article back to be. Consequently, I will assign an editor and we can start the review process.

Peter Zajác

Dňa 2020-12-22 09:12 Nurmasari Widyastuti napísal(a):

[Kutipan teks disembunyikan]



references example.docx

13K

Nurmasari Widyastuti <widyastutinurmasari@gmail.com>

23 Desember 2020 14.10

Kepada: editor@potravinarstvo.com

Dear Peter Zajác,

Thank you for your feedback. Herewith, I'm enclosing the latest revised manuscript.

Best regards,

Nurmasari Widyastuti

[Kutipan teks disembunyikan]



1525 (1).docx

535K

editor@potravinarstvo.com <editor@potravinarstvo.com>

23 Desember 2020 16.25

Kepada: Nurmasari Widyastuti <widyastutinurmasari@gmail.com>

Hello, dear Nurmasari Widyastuti, today I sent your article to reviewers. Now we will wait for reviews. Further communication with you will be with the assigned editor, Mrs. Lucia Benešová

Best regards

Peter Zajác

Dňa 2020-12-23 01:10 Nurmasari Widyastuti napísal(a):

[Kutipan teks disembunyikan]



Slovak Journal of Food Sciences

Potravinárstvo Slovak Journal of Food Sciences
vol. XX, XXXX, p. XX-XX
<https://doi.org/10.5219/XXX>

Received: XX XXXXXXX XXXX. Accepted: XX XXXXXXX XXXX.
Available online: XX XXXXXXX XXXX at www.potravinarstvo.com
© 2020 Potravinárstvo Slovak Journal of Food Sciences, License: CC BY 3.0
ISSN 1337-0960 (online)

The Effect of Tempeh Flour from Tree Bean (*Parkia Timoriana* (DC) Merr.), Seeds on Lipid Profile in Protein-Energy Malnutrition Rats

Formatted: Font: Italic

Nurmasari Widyastuti, Nita Hasna Luthfiah, Rimadhani Ulfa, Mohammad Sulchan, Gemala Anjani, Nyoman Suci Widyastiti, Diana Nur Afifah, Vita Gustin Almira

ABSTRACT

Children with protein-energy malnutrition (PEM) need a food product that can be easily absorbed by the body because they have impaired nutrient utilization and lipid profile disorder. The provision of fermented products such as tempeh is an alternative approach. Seeds of tree bean (*Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr.) are a good source of various nutrients needed by children with PEM. This study aimed to prove the effectiveness of the administration of tempeh flour from tree bean (*Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr.) seeds on the lipid profile in PEM rats. PEM in rats was induced by a zero-protein diet containing granulated sugar (20 g), vegetable oil (1 g) and cornstarch (24 g). The animals were categorized into a normal control group (K+), a PEM group without treatment (K-); a group fed tempeh flour from tree bean (*Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr.) seeds 1.5 g.kg⁻¹ BW (P1); and a group fed tempeh flour from tree bean (*Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr.) seeds 3 g.kg⁻¹ BW (P2). The intervention was administered for 30 days. There was a significant increase in HDL levels ($p = 0.001$) and significant decreases in cholesterol ($p = 0.001$), triglyceride ($p = 0.001$), LDL levels ($p = 0.001$), and atherogenic index of plasma (AIP) ($p = 0.000$) in treatment groups. In conclusion, the administration of tempeh flour from tree bean (*Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr.) seeds increases HDL levels and decreases cholesterol, triglycerides, and LDL level and atherogenic index of plasma (AIP) in rats with PEM.

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: /

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: /

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: and

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Deleted:

Deleted: &

Deleted: &

Deleted: &

Field Code Changed

Deleted: &

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: &

Deleted: &

Deleted: &

Deleted: &

Deleted: &

Formatted: Font: Italic

Keywords: atherogenic index of plasma; lipid profile; protein-energy malnutrition; tempeh flour; tree bean seeds

INTRODUCTION

Protein-energy malnutrition (PEM) is defined as malnutrition in which energy and protein intake are under the nutritional adequacy rate (Adriani and Wirjatmadi, 2016; Pusat Data dan Informasi Kementerian Kesehatan RI, 2015). It occurs because of a lack of consumption of foods containing calories and protein and the presence of infectious diseases that affect nutrient utilization. (Adriani and Wirjatmadi, 2016).

The highest prevalence of PEM in children under 5 years of age (Adriani and Wirjatmadi, 2016). The prevalence of stunted and wasted children in 2019 in the world was 21.3% and 6.9%, respectively (UNICEF, 2020). Based on Risesdas 2018, in Indonesia, the prevalence of malnutrition and undernutrition was about 3.9% and 13.8%, respectively (Kementerian Kesehatan RI, 2018).

Undernutrition and the presence of infectious diseases can aggravate the diseases and worsen nutritional status. Poor nutrition in children leads to slow growth and affects cognitive abilities (UNICEF, 2020). PEM causes hypoalbumin and decreases the immune system (Hoffer, 2001). Also, this condition affects the lipid profile in which

children who are malnourished will have high levels of triglycerides, LDL, and cholesterol and low HDL levels (F.R. Alves, et al., 2014; Velásquez and Cano, 2012).

Children with PEM need food products that are easily absorbed by the body because of impaired utilization of nutrients. Fermented foods contain nutrients that are easily absorbed by the intestines; one of the fermented foods is tempeh (Masdarini, 2011). Tempeh is consumed by Indonesians, as a functional food. It is typically made from soybeans using *Rhizopus* sp. as its starter (Cempaka, et al., 2018).

Tree bean (*Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr.) is a plant that is still classified as a legume or *Leguminosae*. Tree bean seeds are high in protein, minerals, essential amino acids, and fatty acids (Mohan and Janardhanan, 1993). Several studies have demonstrated that tree bean seeds have anti-proliferative, antibacterial, and antioxidant functions. (Angami et al., 2018). This study aimed to prove the effectiveness of the administration of tempeh flour from tree bean (*Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr.) seeds on the lipid profile in rat models of zero-protein-diet-induced PEM.

Scientific hypothesis

Tempeh flour from tree bean (*Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr.) seeds increases HDL levels and decreases cholesterol, triglycerides, and LDL level and atherogenic index of plasma (AIP) in rats with PEM.

MATERIAL AND METHODOLOGY

This study is included in the research project Study of the Administration of Tempeh Flour from Tree Bean (*Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr.) Seeds in Nutritional Status, Hematological Profile, Immune Status, and Metabolic Response on PEM Rats.

Samples

This study used tempeh flour from tree bean seeds as samples. Tree bean seeds (Figure 1) were obtained from suppliers in Klaten, Central Java, Indonesia.

Animals

Male Wistar rats (8 – 12 weeks old, 150 – 200 g, n = 24), were acquired from the Centre for Food and Nutrition of Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia.

Laboratory Methods

Albumin and hemoglobin level measurements as criteria of PEM were performed after 14 days of zero-protein diet administration. Measurements of cholesterol, triglyceride, LDL, and HDL levels were performed before the intervention and at the end of the intervention. Blood sampling was done to analyze albumin, hemoglobin, cholesterol, triglyceride, LDL, and HDL through plexus retroorbital. Examination of triglyceride used Glycerol 3 Phosphate Oxidase-Peroxidase Amino Phenazone (GPO-AP) method, meanwhile cholesterol, LDL and HDL used Cholesterol Oxidase-Peroxidase Aminoantipyrene Phenol (CHOD-PAP) with enzymatic spectrophotometric basis. Atherogenic index of plasma (AIP) was calculated from log (triglyceride/HDL). Blood serum was analyzed in the Centre for Food and Nutrition of Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia.

Description of the Experiment

The Processing of Tempeh from Tree Bean Seeds

The seeds were washed and soaked in water for 2 h. Then, the soaking water was removed, and the seeds were washed thoroughly. Tree bean seeds were boiled in water for 2 h. Then, the water was removed and tree bean seeds were drained. Tree bean seeds were peeled (the black part) as seen in Figure 2 and soaked in boiled water for 18 h (the water was changed regularly every 6 h). Tree bean seeds that had been soaked, drained, and boiled for 30 min were then removed and drained again. Tree bean seeds were aerated to dry and then split into two pieces. The tempeh starter was given to tree bean seeds and mixed well. The mixture was placed in plastic bags with a small hole on two opposite sides (Figure 3). It was then left for two nights until mushrooms appeared on the tempeh and began to solidify (Figure 4).

Processing of Tempeh Flour from Tree Bean Seeds

Tempeh from tree bean seeds was sliced using a slicer and then blanched with hot steam for 2 min. Next, tempeh was

dried by oven at 60 °C for 6 h (Figure 5), ground with a grinder, and then sieved using a 60 mesh sieve (Figure 6). Tempeh flour was stored in airtight containers. The process was carried out at the Centre for Food and Nutrition of Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia.

Animal Treatments

The animals were individually housed and provided a standard feed of Comfeed II at 15 g per rat per day and water ad libitum. Rats were randomly divided into four groups (n = 6 / group): the normal control group (K+), the PEM group without treatment (K-), the group fed tempeh flour from tree bean (*Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr.) seeds at 1.5 g.kg⁻¹ BW (P1), and the group fed tempeh flour from tree bean (*Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr.) seeds at 3 g.kg⁻¹ BW (P2). All animals, except the K+ group animals, were fed a zero-protein diet for 14 days. This diet contained granulated sugar (20 g), vegetable oil (1 g), and cornstarch (24 g) and was administered orally at 10 g per rat per day. PEM was defined when the rats had albumin <3 g.dL⁻¹ and hemoglobin <10 mg.dL⁻¹.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the IBM SPSS Statistic 22 software. Data are presented as mean ± SD or median. A paired t-test and a one-way analysis of variance were used for parametric results; differences between the groups were evaluated using the post-hoc test. Wilcoxon, Kruskal–Wallis, or Mann–Whitney U test was used, as appropriate, for non-parametric results.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The average bodyweight of the animals significantly increased in all the groups (p <0.05), as seen in Table 1. The P1 group (20.17 ± 1.16 g) experienced the highest weight gain after the administration of tempeh flour from tree bean seeds compared to the P2 group (18.58 ± 0.66 g). K+ (31.92 ± 0.72 g) and K- (8.88 ± 0.93 g) groups that were not given any treatment experienced a significant increase in body weight (p <0.05). Bodyweight gain is due to the nutrient content in the feed. Protein and fat content in tempeh flour from tree bean seeds may increase body weight in rats with PEM.

The results of collaboration research showed that the rats acquired PEM after the administration of the zero-protein diet for 14 days. Rats achieved PEM with albumin (1.21 – 1.33 g.dL⁻¹) and hemoglobin (11.86 – 12.13 g.dL⁻¹) (Ulfa, 2020). In the previous study, the provision of a zero-protein diet for 2 weeks in rats indicates decreases in albumin and hemoglobin levels (Anggraeny et al., 2016). PEM causes hypoalbuminemia where albumin levels are under a normal value <3.5 g.dL⁻¹. Hypoalbuminemia leads to impairment of albumin synthesis and other proteins by the liver (Murray et al., 2003).

A significant difference in triglyceride was found after the administration of tempeh flour from tree bean seeds in the K+ (p = 0.001), K- (p = 0.036), P1 (p = 0.001), and P2 (p = 0.056) groups, as seen in Table 2. Significantly decreased triglyceride levels were found in the P1 and P2 groups, implying that two doses of tempeh flour from tree bean seeds could significantly decrease triglyceride levels in rats

- Formatted: Font: 10 pt
- Formatted: Font: Italic
- Formatted: Font: Italic
- Formatted: Font: Italic
- Moved (insertion) [1]
- Deleted: supported by funding received from the Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Diponegoro 2020.
- Formatted: Font: Italic
- Deleted: /
- Moved down [2]: The experiments were approved by The Ethical Committee of Medical Research of the Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Diponegoro (no. 22/EC/H/FKUNDIP/IV/2020), Indonesia.¶
- Deleted: /
- Formatted: Font: Italic
- Formatted: Font: Not Bold
- Formatted: Indent: First line: 0,5 cm
- Deleted: /
- Deleted: /
- Deleted: The processing of tempeh from tree bean seeds¶ Tree bean seeds were obtained from suppliers in Klaten, Central Java, Indonesia. The seeds were washed and soaked in water for 2 h. Then, the soaking water was removed, and the seeds were washed thoroughly. Tree bean seeds were boiled in water for 2 h. Then, the water was removed and tree bean seeds were drained. Tree bean seeds were peeled (the black part) and soaked in boiled water for 18 h (the water was changed regularly every 6 h). Tree bean seeds that had been soaked, drained, and boiled for 30 min were then removed and drained again. Tree bean seeds were aerated to dry and then split into two pieces. The tempeh starter was given to tree bean seeds and mixed well. The mixture was placed in plastic bags with a small h (...)
- Formatted: Font: Italic
- Formatted: Font: Italic
- Deleted:
- Deleted: /
- Deleted: treatments
- Deleted:
- Deleted: /
- Formatted: Font: Bold
- Deleted: a
- Deleted: The animals were individually housed and provided a (...)
- Moved down [1]: Rats were randomly divided into four groups (n (...)
- Deleted: Blood sample analyses
- Formatted: Font: Italic
- Formatted: Font: Italic
- Formatted: Font: Bold
- Deleted: /
- Deleted: g/dL
- Deleted:
- Deleted: g/dL
- Formatted: Font: Italic
- Formatted: Font: Italic
- Formatted: Font: Italic
- Formatted: Font: Italic

with PEM. Based on Table 3, there was a significant decrease in total cholesterol in the K+ ($p = 0.028$), K- ($p = 0.028$), P1 ($p = 0.028$), and P2 ($p = 0.028$) groups after the administration of tempeh flour from tree bean seeds. The highest decrease in total cholesterol occurred in the P1 group, followed by that in the P2 group. LDL levels in the K+ ($p = 0.028$), P1 ($p = 0.028$), and P2 ($p = 0.028$) groups showed significant differences after the administration of tempeh flour from tree bean seeds. Meanwhile, there was no significant difference in LDL levels in the K- group ($p = 0.172$) before and after treatment (Table 4). Significantly decreased LDL levels were found in the P1 and P2 groups after treatment. A significant difference was observed in HDL levels after treatment in the K+ ($p = 0.028$), P1 ($p = 0.028$), and P2 ($p = 0.028$) groups. There was no significant difference in the K- ($p = 0.249$) group. HDL levels in the P1 group were higher than in the P2 group, as seen in Table 5.

Atherogenic index of plasma (AIP) in K+ ($p = 0.048$), K- ($p = 0.001$), P1 ($p = 0.027$) and P2 ($p = 0.027$) groups showed significant differences after treatments (Table 6). AIP in P1 and P2 groups decreased significantly after the administration of tempeh flour from tree bean seeds. Significantly decreased triglyceride levels and increased HDL levels in the P1 and P2 groups caused AIP in both groups decreased. AIP is the strongest marker to predict cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk (Khazaal, 2013). Malnutrition worsens the prognosis of heart failure (Amare, Hamza, and Asefa, 2015).

Total cholesterol, triglyceride, and LDL levels increased in rats with PEM; meanwhile, HDL levels decreased compared to the normal control group. Chronic malnutrition causes endocrine changes leading to metabolic profile disorders. Previous studies demonstrated that 98.9% of children have dyslipidemia with low HDL and hypertriglyceridemia (Veiga et al., 2010). A previous study that was conducted on preschool children indicated that malnourished children had lower HDL levels than normal children, and higher triglyceride levels were found in malnourished children (Velásquez and Cano, 2012).

Tree bean seeds in this study were processed into fermented food as tempeh (Masdarini, 2011). Fermentation can increase protein digestibility through the breakdown of complex proteins into a more soluble form (Nkhata et al., 2018). Besides that, tempeh is one of the functional foods that have long been consumed by Indonesians (Cempaka et al., 2018). Tree bean seeds contain rich protein (albumin and globulin), minerals (magnesium, potassium, phosphorus, zinc, iron, and manganese), essential amino acids (phenylalanine, leucine, isoleucine, and tyrosine), and fatty acids such as linoleic acid and oleic acid (Mohan and Janardhanan, 1993). Tree bean seeds contain a thioproline compound that gives them a distinctive odor (Thangjam and Sahoo, 2012). Thioproline is an antioxidant compound and a free radical scavenger. These compounds inhibit the production of nitroso compounds by reducing bacteria and the reaction of nitrogen species (Kumagai, 2003).

In this study, the administration of tempeh flour from tree bean seeds reduced triglycerides, cholesterol, and LDL levels and increased HDL levels in PEM rats. These results are consistent with previous studies, in which, the administration of tempeh flour decreased total cholesterol

in high-saturated fat-diet induced rats (Ridwan, 2015). The provision of black soybean tempeh and yellow soybean tempeh decreased LDL cholesterol (Priastiti and Puruhita, 2013). The administration of ethanol extract of tree bean seeds in hyperlipidemia rats could reduce triglycerides, cholesterol, and LDL levels and increase HDL levels (Dewi, 2018; Fitriani, 2018). In a previous study, the administration of a tree bean seed extract decreased high levels of triglycerides and total cholesterol (Sheikh et al., 2016). Flavonoids in tree bean seeds have a hypolipidemic effect that can reduce cholesterol, triglyceride, and LDL levels and increase HDL levels (Bao et al., 2016; Dubey et al., 2020). Flavonoids can inhibit the expression of fatty acid synthase in the liver, which is stimulated by AMPK activity on hepatocyte cells through the kinase B1 pathway (Pil Hwang et al., 2013). Besides, flavonoids reduce fatty acid synthesis in the liver and fat accumulation (Do et al., 2013).

The content of essential amino acids found in tree bean seeds also plays a role in reducing triglyceride, cholesterol, and LDL levels in PEM rats. A previous study explained that the provision of essential amino acid supplements and phytosterols are taken 3 times a day for 4 weeks can reduce triglyceride, cholesterol, and LDL levels in the subject (Coker et al., 2015). The administration of a protein-rich mucuna product in hyperlipidemic rats reduced LDL cholesterol, total cholesterol, and triglyceride levels. Proteins have hypolipidemic activity due to the presence of secondary metabolites, such as phytates and polyphenols. Polyphenols induce metabolic hypolipidemia with their ability to reduce cholesterol acyltransferase and HMG-CoA reductase activity (Ngatchic et al., 2016). The administration of leucine and valine in high-fat-diet rats for 8 weeks can increase HDL cholesterol levels (Cojocaru et al., 2012).

Tree bean seeds contain a thioproline compound that produces a distinctive odor in tree bean seeds. Thioproline contains amino acids and is a natural metabolite that acts as an intracellular sulfhydryl antioxidant and a free radical scavenger and protects cell membranes from damage caused by oxygen derivatives (Cavallini et al., 1956). Thioproline that binds to proteins by hydrogen bonds and van der Waals forces exhibits a strong inhibitory effect. Thioproline is also effective in protecting against oxidative damage in rat brain tissue (Lyu et al., 2020). Antioxidants play a role in decreasing LDL levels and increasing HDL levels through several mechanisms, such as activating the transcription factor Nrf2 and increasing antioxidant enzymes, as well as neutralizing oxidative species and inhibiting the activation of the nuclear transcription factor- κ B (NF- κ B) signaling pathway (Ademuyiwa et al., 2005; Brunzell et al., 2008; Hegazy et al., 2019; Oršolić and Car, 2014; Oršolić et al., 2019). Thioproline in dietary supplements can protect the body from diseases associated with oxidative stress, such as atherosclerosis (Ham, Jason Chan, and Chan, 2020).

CONCLUSION

The administration of tempeh flour from tree bean (*Parkia timorina* (DC) Merr.) seeds increases HDL levels and decreases cholesterol, triglycerides, LDL level, and atherogenic index of plasma (AIP) in rats with PEM with the most effective dose is 1.5 g.kg⁻¹ BW.

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: &

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: d

Deleted: ed

Deleted: .

REFERENCES

Ademuyiwa, O., Ugbaja, R., Idumebor, F., & Adebawo, O. 2005. Plasma lipid profiles and risk of cardiovascular disease in occupational lead exposure in Abeokuta, Nigeria. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, vol. 4, no. 1, p. 19. <https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-511X-4-19>

Adriani, M., & Wirjatmadi, B. 2016. *Pengantar Gizi Masyarakat* 4th ed. Jakarta: KENCANA. In Indonesian

Amare, H., Hamza, L., & Asefa, H. 2015. Malnutrition and associated factors among heart failure patients on follow up at Jimma university specialized hospital, Ethiopia. *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders*, vol. 15, no. 1, p. 128. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12872-015-0111-4>

Angami, T., Bhagawati, R., Touthang, L., Makdoh, B., Nirmal, Lungmuana, Bharati, K. A., Silambarasan, R., Ayyanar, M. 2018. Traditional uses, phytochemistry and biological activities of Parkia timoriana (DC.) Merr., an underutilized multipurpose tree bean: a review. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution*, vol. 65, no. 2, p. 679–692. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10722-017-0595-0>

Angraeny, O., Dianovita, C., Nurina Putri, E., Sastrina, M., & Setya Dewi, R. 2016. *Korelasi Pemberian Diet Rendah Protein Terhadap Status Protein, Imunitas, Hemoglobin, dan Nafsu Makan Tikus Wistar Jantan* (The Correlation of Low Protein Diet Administration on Status of Protein, Immunity, Hemoglobin, and Appetite of Male Wistar Rats). *Indonesian Journal of Human Nutrition*, vol. 3, no. 2, p. 105–122. In Indonesian. <https://doi.org/10.21776/ub.ijhn.2016.003.02.6>

Bao, L., Hu, L., Zhang, Y., & Wang, Y. 2016. Hypolipidemic effects of flavonoids extracted from *Lomatogonium rotatum*. *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*, vol. 11, no. 4, p. 1417–1424. <https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2016.3038>

Brunzell, J. D., Davidson, M., Furberg, C. D., Goldberg, R. B., Howard, B. V., Stein, J. H., & Witztum, J. L. 2008. Lipoprotein Management in Patients With Cardiovascular Risk. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, vol. 51, no. 15, p. 1512–1524. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2008.02.034>

Cavallini, D., De Marco, C., Mondovi, B., & Trasarti, F. 1956. Studies of the metabolism of thiazolidine carboxylic acid by rat liver homogenate. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 22, no. 3, p. 558–564. [https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3002\(56\)90068-3](https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3002(56)90068-3)

Cempaka, L., Eliza, N., Ardiansyah, A., Handoko, D. D., & Astuti, R. M. 2018. Proximate Composition, Total Phenolic Content, and Sensory Analysis of Rice Bran Tempeh. *Makara Journal of Science*, vol. 22, no. 2, <https://doi.org/10.7454/mss.v22i2.9616>

Cojocaru, E., Zamfir, C., Zamosteanu, N., Trandafirescu, M., & Cotuțiu, C. 2012. The effects of branched chain aminoacids on HDL-cholesterol in experimental animals subjected to dietary hypercholesterolemia. *Revista Medico-Chirurgicala a Societatii de Medici Si Naturalisti Din Iasi*, vol. 116, no. 1, p. 200–206. Available at <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23077896>

Coker, R. H., Deutz, N. E., Schutzler, S., Beggs, M., Miller, S., Wolfe, R. R., & Wei, J. 2015. Nutritional Supplementation with Essential Amino Acids and Phytosterols May Reduce Risk for Metabolic Syndrome and Cardiovascular Disease in Overweight Individuals with Mild Hyperlipidemia. *Journal of Endocrinology, Diabetes & Obesity*, vol. 3, no. 2, Available at <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26726312>

Dewi, H. F. 2018. *Uji Aktivitas Ekstrak Biji Kedawung (Parkia roxburghii G. Don.) Terhadap Kadar HDL dan LDL Pada Tikus Wistar Hiperlipidemia (Kedawung (Parkia roxburghii G. Don.) Seed Extract Activity Test on HDL and LDL Levels In Hyperlipidemia Wistar Rats)*. Universitas Setia Budi Surakarta. In Indonesian.

Do, M. T., Kim, H. G., Choi, J. H., Khanal, T., Park, B. H., Tran, T. P., Hwang, Y. P., Na, M., Jeong, H. G. 2013. Phyllirin attenuates high glucose-induced lipid accumulation in human HepG2 hepatocytes through the activation of LKB1/AMP-activated protein kinase-dependent signalling. *Food Chemistry*, vol. 136, no. 2, p. 415–425. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.09.012>

Dubey, R. K., Upadhyay, G., Singh, V., & Pandey, S. 2020. Antioxidant potential and free radical scavenging activity of Parkia roxburghii, G. Don, a lesser known leguminous tree from North East India. *South African Journal of Botany*, vol. 131, p. 454–461. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2020.03.013>

F.R. Alves, J., P.A. Britto, R., S. Ferreira, H., L. Sawaya, A., & M.M.T. Florêncio, T. 2014. Evolution of the biochemical profile of children treated or undergoing treatment for moderate or severe stunting: consequences of metabolic programming? *Jornal de Pediatria*, vol. 90, no. 4, p. 356–362. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jped.2013.12.007>

Fitriani. 2018. *Uji Aktivitas Ekstrak Biji Kedawung (Parkia roxburghii G. Don.) Terhadap Kadar Kolesterol Dan Triglicerida Pada Tikus Wistar Hiperlipidemia (Kedawung (Parkia roxburghii G. Don.) Seed Extract Activity Test on Cholesterol and Triglyceride Level in Hyperlipid)*. Universitas Setia Budi Surakarta. In Indonesian.

Ham, Y.-H., Jason Chan, K. K., & Chan, W. 2020. Thioproline Serves as an Efficient Antioxidant Protecting Human Cells from Oxidative Stress and Improves Cell Viability. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, vol. 33, no. 7, p. 1815–1821. <https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrestox.0c00055>

Hegazy, A. M., El-Sayed, E. M., Ibrahim, K. S., & Abdel-Azeem, A. S. 2019. Dietary antioxidant for disease prevention corroborated by the Nrf2 pathway. *Journal of Complementary and Integrative Medicine*, vol. 16, no. 3, <https://doi.org/10.1515/jcim-2018-0161>

Hoffer, L. J. 2001. Clinical nutrition: 1. Protein-energy malnutrition in the inpatient. *CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association Journal = Journal de l'Association Medicale Canadienne*, vol. 165, no. 10, p. 1345–1349. Available at <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11760983>

Kementerian Kesehatan RI. 2018. *Hasil Utama Riskedasa*

Deleted: (...015)... Nutritional Supplementation with Essential Amino Acids and Phytosterols May Reduce Risk for Metabolic Syndrome and Cardiovascular Disease in Overweight Individuals with Mild Hyperlipidemia. *Journal of Endocrinology, Diabetes & Obesity*, vol. 3, no. (...)... Available atRetrieved from (...)

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: (...005)... Plasma lipid profiles and risk of cardiovascular disease in occupational lead exposure in Abeokuta, Nigeria. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, vol. 4, no. (...)

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-511X-4-19>

Deleted: (...016)... *Pengantar Gizi Masyarakat*. (...th ed.) (...)

Deleted: (...018)

Deleted: (...015)... Malnutrition and associated factors among heart failure patients on follow up at Jimma university specialized hospital, Ethiopia. *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders*, vol. 15, no. (...)

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12872-015-0111-4>

Deleted:Jeong, H. G. (...013)... Phyllirin attenuates high glucose-induced lipid accumulation in human HepG2 hepatocytes through the activation of LKB1/AMP-activated protein kinase-dependent signalling. *Food Chemistry*, vol. 136, no. (...)

Deleted:Ayyanar, M. (...018)... Traditional uses, phytochemistry and biological activities of Parkia timoriana (DC.) Merr., an underutilized multipurpose tree bean: a review. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution*, vol. 65, no. (...)

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.09.012>

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10722-017-0595-0>

Deleted: (...020)

Deleted: (...016)... *Korelasi Pemberian Diet Rendah Protein Terhadap Status Protein, Imunitas, Hemoglobin, dan Nafsu Makan Tikus Wistar Jantan* (The Correlation of Low Protein Diet Administration on Status of Protein, Immunity, Hemoglobin, and Appetite of Male Wistar Rats) Ratt... *Indonesian Journal of Human Nutrition*, vol. 3, no. (...)... p. 105–122. In Indonesian. <https://doi.org/10.21776/ub.ijhn.2016.003.02.6><https://doi.org/10.21776/ub.ijhn.2016.003.02.6>

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2020.03.013>

Deleted: (...014)... Evolution of the biochemical profile of children treated or undergoing treatment for moderate or severe stunting: consequences of metabolic programming? *Jornal de Pediatria*, vol. 90, no. (...)

Deleted: (...016)... Hypolipidemic effects of flavonoids (...)

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jped.2013.12.007>

Deleted: (...018)

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2016.3038>

Deleted: (...008)... Lipoprotein Management in Patients With (...)

Deleted: (...020)... Thioproline Serves as an Efficient (...)

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2008.02.034>

Deleted: (...956)... Studies of the metabolism of thiazolidine (...)

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrestox.0c00055>

Deleted: [https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3002\(56\)90068-3](https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3002(56)90068-3)

Deleted: (...019)... Dietary antioxidant for disease prevention (...)

Deleted: (...018)... Proximate Composition, Total Phenolic (...)

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.7454/mss.v22i2.9616>

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1515/jcim-2018-0161>

Deleted: (...001)... Clinical nutrition: 1. Protein-energy (...)

Deleted: (...012)... The effects of branched chain aminoacids (...)

Deleted: (...018)

2018. In Indonesian. <https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.201200529>

Khazaal, M. S. 2013. Atherogenic Index of Plasma (AIP) As a Parameter in Predicting Cardiovascular Risk in Males Compared To the Conventional Dyslipidemic Indices (Cholesterol Ratios). *Karbala J. Med.*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. 1506–1513.

Kumagai, H. 2003. Thioproline inhibits development of esophageal adenocarcinoma induced by gastroduodenal reflux in rats. *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 25, no. 5, p. 723–727. <https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgh067>

Lyu, M., Liu, H., Ye, Y., & Yin, Z. 2020. Inhibition effect of thiol-type antioxidants on protein oxidative aggregation caused by free radicals. *Biophysical Chemistry*, vol. 260, p. 106367. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpc.2020.106367>

Masdarini, L. 2011. Manfaat Dan Keamanan Makanan Fermentasi Untuk Kesehatan (Tinjauan Dari Aspek Ilmu Pangan) (Benefits And Safety Of Fermented Food For Health (Overview Of Food Science Aspects)). *Jurnal Pendidikan Teknologi Dan Kejuruan*, vol. 8, no. 1. In Indonesian. <https://doi.org/10.23887/jptk-undiksha.v8i1.2893>

Mohan, V. R., & Janardhanan, K. 1993. Chemical and nutritional evaluation of raw seeds of the tribal pulses Parkia roxburghii G. Don. and Entada phaseoloides (L.) Merr. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, vol. 44, no. 1, p. 47–53. <https://doi.org/10.3109/09637489309017422>

Murray, R. K., Bender, D. A., Botham, K. M., Kennelly, P. J., Rodwell, V. W., & Weil, P. A. 2003. *Harper's Illustrated Biochemistry*. New York: McGrawHill Inc.

Ngatchic, J. T. M., Njintang, N., Bernard, C., Oben, J., & Mbofung, C. M. 2016. Lipid-lowering properties of protein-rich mucuna product. *Nutrire*, vol. 41, no. 1, p. 2. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s41110-016-0003-0>

Nkhata, S. G., Ayua, E., Kamau, E. H., & Shingiro, J.-B. 2018. Fermentation and germination improve nutritional value of cereals and legumes through activation of endogenous enzymes. *Food Science & Nutrition*, vol. 6, no. 8, p. 2446–2458. <https://doi.org/10.1002/fsn3.846>

Oršolić, N., & Car, N. 2014. Quercetin and hyperthermia modulate cisplatin-induced DNA damage in tumor and normal tissues in vivo. *Tumor Biology*, vol. 35, no. 7, p. 6445–6454. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-014-1843-y>

Oršolić, N., Landeka Jurčević, I., Đikić, D., Rogić, D., Odeh, D., Balta, V., Perak Junaković, E., Terzić, S., Jutrić, D. 2019. Effect of Propolis on Diet-Induced Hyperlipidemia and Atherogenic Indices in Mice. *Antioxidants*, vol. 8, no. 6, p. 156. <https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox8060156>

Pil Hwang, Y., Gyun Kim, H., Choi, J. H., Truong Do, M., Tran, T. P., Chun, H. K., *Cung, Y. C., Jeong, T. C., Jeong, H. G.* 2013. 3-Caffeoyl, 4-dihydrocaffeoylquinic acid from *Salicornia herbacea* attenuates high glucose-induced hepatic lipogenesis in human HepG2 cells through activation of the liver kinase B1 and silent information regulator T1/AMPK-dependent pathway. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, vol. 57, no. 3, p. 471–482. <https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.201200529>

Priastiti, D. A., & Puruhita, N. 2013. Perbedaan Kadar Kolesterol Ldl Penderita Dislipidemia Pada Pemberian Tempe Kedelai Hitam Dan Tempe Kedelai Kuning. *Journal of Nutrition College*, vol. 2, no. 2, p. 262–276. In Indonesian. <https://doi.org/10.14710/jnc.v2i2.2751>

Pusat Data dan Informasi Kementerian Kesehatan RI. 2015. Situasi Kesehatan Anak Balita di Indonesia. In *InfoDATIN*, p. 2. In Indonesian.

Ridwan. 2015. Pengaruh Pemberian Tepung Tempe Terhadap Kadar Kolesterol Total Pada Tikus Dengan Riwayat BBRL (Studi Eksperimental Pada Tikus Galur Wistar Yang Diinduksi Diet Tinggi Lemak Jenuh). Universitas Sultan Agung. In Indonesian.

Sheikh, Y., Maibam, B. C., Talukdar, N. C., Deka, D. C., & Borah, J. C. 2016. In vitro and in vivo anti-diabetic and hepatoprotective effects of edible pods of *Parkia roxburghii* and quantification of the active constituent by HPLC-PDA. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, vol. 191, p. 21–28. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2016.06.015>

Thangjam, R., & Sahoo, L. 2012. In vitro regeneration and Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated genetic transformation of *Parkia timoriana* (DC.) Merr.: a multipurpose tree legume. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, vol. 34, no. 3, p. 1207–1215. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-011-0917-3>

Ulfa, R. 2020. Pemberian Tepung Tempe Kedawung (*Parkia roxburghii* G. Don) Terhadap Status Imun, Status Anemia, dan Status Gizi pada Tikus KEP (Kekurangan Energi Protein). Universitas Diponegoro. In Indonesian.

UNICEF. 2020. Malnutrition. *Jcit. 2020-02-10*. Available at <https://data.unicef.org/topic/nutrition/malnutrition/>

Veiga, G. R. S., Ferreira, H. S., Sawaya, A. L., Calado, J., & Florêncio, T. M. M. T. 2010. Dyslipidaemia and Undernutrition in Children from Impoverished Areas of Maceió, State of Alagoas, Brazil. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 7, no. 12, p. 4139–4151. <https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph7124139>

Velásquez, C. M., & Cano, J. M. O. 2012. Dyslipidemia in children with acute malnutrition. *Turbo, Colombia. Perspectivas En Nutrición Humana*, vol. 14, no. 2, p. 11–20.

Funds:
This study was supported by funding received from the Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Diponegoro 2020.

Acknowledgments:
We would like to thank the Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Diponegoro, for funding this research.

Conflict of Interest:
The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Ethical Statements:
The experiments were approved by The Ethical Committee of Medical Research of the Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Diponegoro (no. 22/EC/H/FKUNDIP/IV/2020), Indonesia.

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.201200529>

Deleted: (...013)... Atherogenic Index of Plasma (AIP) As a Parameter in Predicting Cardiovascular Risk in Males Compared To the Conventional Dyslipidemic Indices (Cholesterol Ratios). *Karbala J. Med.*, vol. 6, no. (...)

Deleted: (...013)... Perbedaan Kadar Kolesterol Ldl Penderita Dislipidemia Pada Pemberian Tempe Kedelai Hitam Dan Tempe Kedelai Kuning. *Journal of Nutrition College*, vol. 2, no. (...)

Deleted: (...003)... Thioproline inhibits development of esophageal adenocarcinoma induced by gastroduodenal reflux in rats. *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 25, no. (...)

Deleted: (...015)... Situasi Kesehatan Anak Balita di Indonesia. In *InfoDATIN*. (... 2)

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgh067>

Deleted: (...015)

Deleted: (...020)

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpc.2020.106367>

Deleted: (...011)... Manfaat Dan Keamanan Makanan Fermentasi Untuk Kesehatan (Tinjauan Dari Aspek Ilmu Pangan) (Benefits And Safety Of Fermented Food For Health (Overview Of Food Science Aspects)). *Jurnal Pendidikan Teknologi Dan Kejuruan*, vol. 8, no. (...)

Deleted: (...016)

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2016.06.015>

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.23887/jptk-undiksha.v8i1.2893>

Deleted: (...012)... In vitro regeneration and Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated genetic transformation of *Parkia timoriana* (DC.) Merr.: a multipurpose tree legume. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, vol. 34, no. (...)

Deleted: (...993)... Chemical and nutritional evaluation of raw seeds of the tribal pulses *Parkia roxburghii* G. Don. and *Entada phaseoloides* (L.) Merr. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, vol. 44, no. (...)

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-011-0917-3>

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.3109/09637489309017422>

Deleted: (...020)

Deleted: (...003)

Deleted: (...020)... Malnutrition. Retrieved ...cit. 2020-...

Deleted: (...016)... Lipid-lowering properties of protein-rich...

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1186/s41110-016-0003-0>

Deleted: (...010)... Dyslipidaemia and Undernutrition in...

Deleted: (...018)... Fermentation and germination improve...

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph7124139>

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1002/fsn3.846>

Deleted: (...012)... Dyslipidemia in children with acute...

Deleted: (...014)... Quercetin and hyperthermia modulate...

Commented [MOU1]: References section have to be reworked.

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-014-1843-y>

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Deleted:Jutrić, D. (...019)... Effect of Propolis on Diet-...

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: <https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox8060156>

Deleted:Jeong, H. G. (...013)... 3-Caffeoyl, 4-...

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0,25 cm

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Moved (insertion) [2]

Contact address:

*Nurmasari Widyastuti, Universitas Diponegoro, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nutrition Science, Jl. Prof H. Soedarto, SH, Tembalang, 50275, Semarang, Indonesia,

Tel.: +6281575897167,

E-mail: widyastutinurmasari@gmail.com

ORCID: <https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2964-2632>

Nita Hasna Luthfiah, Universitas Diponegoro, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nutrition Science, Jl. Prof H. Soedarto, SH, Tembalang, 50275, Semarang, Indonesia, Tel.: +6282134810258

E-mail: nhasna98@gmail.com

ORCID: <https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3146-8269>

Rimadhani Ulfa, Universitas Diponegoro, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nutrition Science, Jl. Prof H. Soedarto, SH, Tembalang, 50275, Semarang, Indonesia, Tel.: +6282353256169

E-mail: rimadhaniulfa@gmail.com

ORCID: <https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1424-655X>

Mohammad Sulchan, Universitas Diponegoro, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nutrition Science, Jl. Prof H. Soedarto, SH, Tembalang, 50275, Semarang, Indonesia, Tel.: +62816655235

E-mail: mohsulchan@gmail.com

ORCID: <https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6961-2780>

Gemala Anjani, Universitas Diponegoro, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nutrition Science, Jl. Prof H. Soedarto, SH, Tembalang, 50275, Semarang, Indonesia, Tel.: +6281285376785,

E-mail: gemaanjani@gmail.com

ORCID: <https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7774-7693>

Nyoman Suci Widyastiti, Universitas Diponegoro, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Clinical Pathology, Jl. Prof H. Soedarto, SH, Tembalang, 50275, Semarang, Indonesia, Tel.: +628122841970

E-mail: nyoman.suci@gmail.com

ORCID: <https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4083-1293>

Diana Nur Afifah, Universitas Diponegoro, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nutrition Science, Jl. Prof H. Soedarto, SH, Tembalang, 50275, Semarang, Indonesia, Tel.: +6287770380468

E-mail: d.nurafifah.dna@fk.undip.ac.id

ORCID: <https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8808-1826>

Vita Gustin Almira, Universitas Diponegoro, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nutrition Science, Jl. Prof H. Soedarto, SH, Tembalang, 50275, Semarang, Indonesia, Tel.: +62896702780780,

E-mail: vitagalmira@gmail.com

ORCID: <https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0432-9084>

Corresponding author: *

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 10 pt



Parkia timoriana (DC) Merr) seeds

Figure 4 Tempeh from tree bean seeds after fermentation 48 h



Figure 5 Drying tempeh



Figure 6 Tempeh flour from tree bean seeds

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Page Break

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Centered

Deleted: ¶

Table 5 HDL levels before and after treatments tempeh flour from tree bean seeds

Groups	HDL levels (mg.dL ⁻¹)			
	Pre	Post	Δ	p
K+	79.25(76.87-81.63)	77.775(72.03-80.46) ^{b,c,d}	-1.34(-6.2-(-0.24)) ^{c,d}	0.028*
K-	46.26(44.22-51.02)	46.36(43.68-48.28) ^{a,c,d}	-0.5(-2.74-1.16) ^{c,d}	0.249
P1	45.24(42.86-47.62)	66.285(64.37-70.5) ^{a,b,d}	21.55(20.32-22.88) ^{a,b,c}	0.028*
P2	44.9(42.86-47.62)	58.62(55.17-61.3) ^{a,b,c}	12.57(9.85-18.44) ^{a,b,d}	0.028*
p ¹	0.003*	0.001*	0.001*	

Note: normal control group (K+), PEM group without treatment (K-), tempeh flour from seeds of *Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr., 1.5 g.kg⁻¹ BW group (P1), and tempeh flour from seeds of *Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr., 3 g.kg⁻¹ BW group (P2); p = Wilcoxon test, p¹ = Kruskal Wallis test; * = significant (p < 0.05)

Table 6 AIP before and after treatments tempeh flour from tree bean seeds

Groups	AIP (mg.dL ⁻¹)			
	Pre	Post	Δ	p
K+	-0.07±0.01	-0.048±0.03	0.02(0.01-0.05)	0.048*
K-	0.35±0.01	0.38±0.01	0.03±0.01	0.001*
P1	0.36(0.35-0.41)	0.09±0.02	-0.28±0.01	0.027*
P2	0.36(0.34-0.42)	0.21±0.03	-0.13(-0.25-(-0.11))	0.027*
p ¹	0.004*	0.000*	0.000*	

Note: normal control group (K+), PEM group without treatment (K-), tempeh flour from seeds of *Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr., 1.5 g.kg⁻¹ BW group (P1), and tempeh flour from seeds of *Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr., 3 g.kg⁻¹ BW group (P2); p = Wilcoxon test, p¹ = Kruskal Wallis test; * = significant (p < 0.05)

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1,15 li

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1,15 li

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1,15 li

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1,15 li

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1,15 li

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1,15 li

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: .

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1,15 li

Deleted: /

Deleted: p

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1,15 li

Deleted: 67

Deleted: 26

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1,15 li

Deleted: 3

Deleted: 78

Deleted: 4

Deleted: 25

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1,15 li

Deleted: 55

Deleted: 85

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1,15 li

Deleted: 55

Deleted: 3

Deleted: 0

Deleted: P

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1,15 li

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: Note: normal control group (K+), PEM group without treatment (K-), tempeh flour from seeds of *Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr., 1.5 g/kg BW group (P1), and tempeh flour from seeds of *Parkia timoriana* (DC) Merr., 3 g/kg BW group (P2); p = Wilcoxon test/paired t-test, p¹ = one way ANOVA/Kruskal Wallis test; * = significant (p < 0.05)

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶